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Transforming HOW WE SERVE



TRANSFORMATION 
brings about change.

ON THE COVER: Matt Donald, journeyman electrician; Josie Ubben, engineering and 
operations assistant; and Travis Hefty, line foreman; look at plans for the Prestage  
Family Substation. Prestage Foods of Iowa is Corn Belt Power’s largest load. 
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Electric utilities transform voltage;  
however, at Corn Belt Power Cooperative,  
the concept of transforming applied  
much more broadly during 2018: 

•  Our industry sees change in the fuel used 
to generate power, with wind turbines, solar 
panels and low natural gas prices transforming 
how we generate and purchase electricity. 

•  Corn Belt Power’s infrastructure transforms 
with new and reconductored lines serving 
rapid growth in commercial and industrial load.

•  A new Iowa energy bill changes focus on 
delivering energy efficiency programs. 

•  Corn Belt Power’s new Leadership Exploration 
and Development (LEAD) program transforms 
current employees into future leaders. 

Even with all of this change, however, one thing 
remains constant at Corn Belt Power – doing 
business as a cooperative with a mission of 
enhancing the quality of life for those we serve.
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Corn Belt Power  
Cooperative has always 
put its members first.  
To carry on that tradition, 
Corn Belt Power is

“ Transforming 
How We Serve.”
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KENNETH H. KUYPER,  
Executive Vice President  
and General Manager

SCOTT STECHER,  
President, Board of Directors
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Corn Belt Power Cooperative has always put its 
members first. To carry on that tradition, Corn Belt 
Power is “Transforming How We Serve.” As our 
industry transforms, we too must transform with it 
to maintain a high level of service to our members. 

n 2018, we were able to mitigate the impact of 
Duane Arnold Energy Center’s (DAEC) pending 
closure because of our strong relationship with 
Basin Electric Cooperative as a Class A member. 

DAEC is closing not as a result of environmental or 
safety concerns, but simply economics. With the low 
cost of natural gas, coal and wind, the once steady, 
affordable nuclear energy is priced out of the market. 

Corn Belt Power’s 10 percent stake in DAEC amounts 
to 61 megawatts of generation. Our relationship with 
Basin Electric will ensure our members’ power generation 
needs are met now and into the future. As a Class A 
member, Corn Belt Power is able to pull from Basin’s 
larger generation portfolio. That is a good thing for 
members now and in the future. 

Power generation is just one facet of our business. 
Transmission is also undergoing a transformation. 
Corn Belt Power and its crews are in the middle of a  
major overhaul of our transmission system. We  
built and/or reconductored more than 40 miles of 
transmission line in 2018. These projects enhance  
reliability and keep costs low. In some places, optical 
ground wire has been installed on the transmission 
structure in place of the static wire. Fiber enhances 
reliability of the system that allows us to communicate 
with devices across our service territory. 

One of our biggest projects was the construction of 
infrastructure needed to power Prestage Foods of  
Iowa’s new pork processing plant. Corn Belt Power crews 
built a 1.5-mile section of 69 kilovolt line from the  
co-op’s existing Troy Substation, as well as the  
Prestage Family Substation and Switching Station. 

Two 20 megavolt-ampere transformers and dual  
capacitor banks will strengthen reliability and keep  
the facility in service during maintenance work or  
an unplanned outage. At 23 megawatts, the new  
Prestage Foods of Iowa’s plant will be Corn Belt Power’s  
largest load. 

Projects like Prestage highlight not only our ability  
to provide infrastructure to new and expanding load 
but also Corn Belt Power’s dedication to economic 
development. Corn Belt Power and our members have 
phenomenal key accounts personnel that work to  
expand business opportunities and retain anchor  
institutions. These new and existing industries are  
the life blood of our service territory and provide  
excellent jobs with competitive wages. Corn Belt Power’s 
$7 million revolving loan fund continues to help build 
our rural economy. To date, 116 loans have been made, 
totaling more than $17.5 million. These loans have 
helped retain and create more than 2,000 jobs. 

While this isn’t necessarily a transformation, we would 
be remiss if we didn’t note the cooperative’s safety 
record. As of Dec. 31, 2018 the following days without  
a lost time accident were met:

• Wisdom: 882 days

• Humboldt: 991 days

• Hampton: 3,034 days

• Emmetsburg: 570 days

LEFT: NextEra Energy and Alliant Energy announced that the two 
companies’ power purchase agreement will be shortened, effectively 
closing the Duane Arnold Energy Center (DAEC) in 2020, 14 years 
before its 2034 operating license expires. DAEC is Iowa’s only  
nuclear power plant.

RIGHT: Corn Belt Power Cooperative and Prairie Energy Cooperative 
present revolving loan funds to the Belmond Community Hospital for 
the new Garner Medical Clinic.

I
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Safety and keeping our employees on the job is 
paramount to our mission of providing safe, reliable 
and affordable electricity. We want our employees 
to return home each day the way they came to work, 
happy and healthy. 

The finance and accounting portion of our business 
wasn’t spared from transformation in 2018. Late in 
the year, Corn Belt Power’s board approved a change 
to the cooperative’s articles of incorporation. The 
change allows for Corn Belt Power to bypass statutory 
surplus when allocating margin related to retiring 
Basin Electric patronage. This allows Corn Belt Power 
to return money to member-cooperatives in a more 
timely manner. 

Approximately 85 percent of Corn Belt Power’s costs 
come from Basin Electric. Though Basin Electric also 
went through many transformations in 2018, Corn 
Belt Power’s board of directors were able to keep  
rates stable. 

We continue to keep a watchful eye on Basin’s structure 
and subsidiaries. When needed, we are able to effectively 
communicate our views and represent the interest of 
our members. From a financial and reliability stand-
point, our participation as a Class A member will serve 
us well into the future. 

Lastly, Corn Belt Power’s employee group continued  
to transform. We saw the retirement of several key 
employees and the onboarding of others. We have good 
people who do their jobs well, noted by several awards, 
certifications and promotions received in 2018. We are 
blessed with a board of directors that takes an active 
interest in all operations of our cooperative, engaging 
in decision-making to make us stronger.

Member Cooperative Rates
Average member system cost, including substation charge; calculated average member  
co-op rate reflects power sold to municipals and others served by the cooperatives.

1980 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

Mills/kWh

2018

KENNETH H. KUYPER 
Executive Vice President  
and General Manager

SCOTT STECHER 
President, Board of Directors

TOP LEFT: Transmission crews install a new two-way motor operated switch at the Troy Substation. 

TOP RIGHT: Devin Chesler, apprentice lineman, tests his pole top safety rescue skills against 
the clock. Linemen must ascend the pole, secure and lower the 150-pound life-size practice 
dummy by rope to the ground and descend to administer CPR in less than four minutes.

NEXT PAGE: With the low cost of wind power, Duane Arnold Energy Center was priced 
out of the market. Corn Belt Power continues to generate electricity at Wisdom Station as 
it’s called upon by Southwest Power Pool. As our industry changes, we transform with it, 
providing safe, reliable and affordable electricity.



Year in 
Review

2018



Transforming HOW WE SERVE



ransforming voltage has been 
a necessary function since 
utilities first generated  

electricity from a central station  
service point. Transformers step  
up voltage at the power plant; high 
voltage conductor then efficiently 
transmits the power to a substation, 
where transformers step down  
voltage delivered to homes, farms 
and businesses.

In 2018, Corn Belt Power Cooperative 
transformed additional functions,  
including generating sources,  
delivery infrastructure, employee 
programs and service to member  
co-ops’ loads, revolutionizing how  
it operates to serve.

T
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Transforming 
How We  
Generate
An abundance of wind energy, subsidized by tax 
incentives, coupled with low-priced natural gas 
generation resulted in reduced market prices for 
electricity throughout the Midwest during 2018. 
Lower market prices affected Corn Belt Power’s 
generating sources in several ways. 

DUANE ARNOLD  
ENERGY CENTER
On July 27, NextEra Energy, Inc., the operating owner  
of the Duane Arnold Energy Center (DAEC), Iowa’s only  
nuclear power plant, announced that commercial  
operations at the Palo plant will cease in 2020. NextEra 
and Alliant Energy have agreed to shorten the term of 
their existing power purchase agreement for output of the 
plant by five years in exchange for a buyout agreement. 
Both utilities said the existence of cheaper forms of  
energy prompted the decision to shut down DAEC before 
its license expires in 2034 or the purchase power agreement 
between NextEra and Alliant concludes in 2025.

Corn Belt Power owns 10 percent of DAEC and sells 
the output of its 61-megawatt share to Basin Electric 
Power Cooperative, Bismarck, N.D. Corn Belt Power has 
mitigated any negative impact of the early 2020 closure 
through its membership in Basin Electric, which has 
adequate supplies of generation to cover all member 
cooperatives’ needs.

With an immediate focus to minimize any financial 
impact that early closure may have on its membership, 
Corn Belt Power changed its depreciation schedule  
to reflect the change in the plant closure date. 

Corn Belt Power’s relationship with Basin Electric will fill 
the void left by DAEC’s 2020 closure. Basin Electric has 
adequate generation to fill the needs  
of all member cooperatives.
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Nuclear  | 1.5%

Natural Gas  | 2.5%

Hydro | 6.6%

Purchase  | 11.5%

Renewable  | 18%

Coal  | 59.9%

Corn Belt Power  
Generation Mix 2018*
Delivered to member systems

2018 Energy Supplied
Supplied by Corn Belt Power to Basin Electric and NIMECA

ANNUAL  
CAPACITY FACTORMWH MWH

LOCATION FUEL 2017 2018 2018

WISDOM 1 Spencer, Iowa Natural Gas/Fuel Oil 257 1,756 0.55%

WISDOM 2 Spencer, Iowa Natural Gas/Fuel Oil 4,070 9,687 2.76%

DAEC Palo, Iowa Nuclear 521,351 489,541 89.83%

WALTER SCOTT 3 Council Bluffs, Iowa Coal 182,992 163,501 71.18%

WALTER SCOTT 4 Council Bluffs, Iowa Coal 216,199 328,437 81.84%

NEAL 4 Sioux City, Iowa Coal 275,939 355,129 55.72%

CROSSWIND Ayrshire, Iowa Wind 66,849 62,256 33.84%

HANCOCK Hancock County, Iowa Wind 28,580 25,561 26.01%

ILEC WIND Superior/Lakota, Iowa Wind 74,682 70,470 38.31%

Corn Belt Power is a joint owner of Neal 4, 
Sioux City. Coal is an important part of our 
energy portfolio.

*  Estimated percentages comprise Basin Electric Power Cooperative’s and  
Western Area Power Administration’s generation supplies.

   This information does not allow any cooperative member to claim environmental 
attributes of power supply since some renewable energy certificates are sold to 
improve the economics of the renewable generation. 
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Air Products, Inc., Lakota – Buys CO2 from Green Plains  
Ethanol and ships to customers; 1.9 MW new load; served by 
Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative

Bridges Bay, Okoboji – Residential cabins and condominiums; 
500 kW expansion; served by Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative

Eagle’s Catch, Ellsworth – Aquaculture; 350 kW new load;  
15 new jobs; served by Midland Power Cooperative

Flint Hills, Shell Rock – Ethanol plant; 1 to 3 MW expansion; 
served by Butler County REC

Burtek Dry Ice, Latimer – Dry Ice manufacturer;  
200 kW new load; served by Franklin REC

GKN, Estherville – Agricultural rim manufacturer;  
200 kW growth with added welder; served by Iowa  
Lakes Electric Cooperative

Mary Ann’s Specialty Foods, Webster City – Meat  
manufacturer and distributor; 300 kW expansion; 182 new  
and retained jobs; served by Webster City Municipal Utilities

Mid-Iowa Cooperative, Grundy Center – Grain elevator;  
1 MW new load; served by Grundy County REC

NEW Cooperative, Rowan – Feed mill; 2 MW new load; served 
by Prairie Energy Cooperative

REG, Ralston – Biodiesel; 400 kW expansion; served by  
Raccoon Valley Electric Cooperative

Rembrandt Foods, Rembrandt – Egg-laying barns; 1 MW 
expansion; served by Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative

Seneca Foundry, Webster City –  Iron casting production;  
200 kW expansion; served by Webster City Municipal Utilities

Van Diest Medical Clinic, Webster City – Medical clinic;  
200 kW new load; 41 new or retained jobs; served by 
Webster City Municipal Utilities

Wells Ag Supply, Varina – Feed, seed and fertilizer company; 
375 kW new load; served by Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative

Total C&I Load: 11.775 MW

Municipals  | 6.6%

Poultry  | 7.6%

Swine | 10.4%

Commercial/Manufacturing  | 21.3%

Ethanol/BioDiesel  | 23.8%

Residential/Other  | 30.3%

Load Segment Report
(Based on estimated kilowatt-hour sales)

New agricultural load:
• Butler County REC – .5 MW

• Calhoun County REC – .250 MW

• Grundy County REC – .250 MW

• Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative – 2.33 MW

• Midland Power Cooperative – .575 MW

• Prairie Energy Cooperative – 2.1 MW

• Raccoon Valley Electric Cooperative – .6 MW

Total Ag:  6.605 MW

Total New Load for 2018: 18.38 MW 

Prestage to begin March in 2019: 23 MW

New and Expanding Loads Jim Vermeer, right, vice president, 
business development, talks with Joe 
Sweeney, co-founder Eagle’s Catch, 
during a business open house.
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WISDOM UNITS 1 AND 2  
OPERATE MORE
During periods throughout 2018, low wind speeds 
resulted in wind capacities not meeting demand. To 
cover shortages in northern Iowa, Corn Belt Power’s 
Wisdom Unit 2, Spencer, operated more in 2018 than 
it had during any single year since it was installed in 
2004. Wisdom Unit 1 was not far behind, logging more 
operating hours during 2018 than it had since the unit 
switched from burning coal to natural gas in 2014, 
and tallying almost as many unit starts as the highest 
annual total.

During several days in May, high temperatures and  
reduced wind generation resulted in plants in Corn 
Belt Power’s portfolio – many of which rarely run – 
being called on to operate. The Southwest Power Pool 
(SPP) – through Basin Electric – notified Corn Belt 
Power to run nearly all of its generating units May 31, 
including the Webster City Combustion Turbine, in 
addition to North Iowa Municipal Electric Cooperative 
Association’s Spencer Combustion Turbine and municipal 
diesel units. Wisdom Units 1 and 2 were already  
operating with day ahead notice. 

In addition to economics increasing the operating 
time of the units, reliability needs also determined 
when the Wisdom units ran. SPP determines when 
the territory may need additional generation, due to 
other units being offline, transmission system issues 
or reduced wind energy. SPP set a wind penetration 
record on April 30. 

TOP LEFT: SPP determines  
when the territory may need 
additional generation, due  
to other units being offline  
or reduced wind energy. 

TOP RIGHT: Wisdom Unit 1 
and 2 operated more in 2018 
than during any single year 
since 2014 when the unit 
switched from burning  
coal to natural gas.

BELOW: Hancock County 
wind turbines produce 
renewable energy for  
Corn Belt Power and its 
member cooperatives.

THE GRID OPERATOR SAID 
wind generation  

          63.96 
PERCENT OF THE TOTAL LOAD 

 AT 3:35 A.M. 

W
A

S



 12| TRANSFORMING HOW WE SERVE
 Y E A R  I N  R E V I E W  |  2018

CHALLENGES TO WHOLESALE  
POWER SUPPLIER
The initial financial forecast of 2018 from Basin  
Electric Power Cooperative, Corn Belt Power’s  
wholesale power supplier, showed significant losses 
from Basin Electric’s Dakota Gasification Company 
(DGC) and its Synfuels Plant, prompting the  
cooperative to initiate a reduction in the number  
of Basin Electric employees.

Basin Electric staff studied options for improving  
the financial forecast, including running the  
Synfuels Plant at a reduced-capacity factor and  
exploring potential write down of natural gas assets  
of Dakota Gas.

In 2018, the Basin Electric board approved rates  
without a financial forecast. Corn Belt Power’s  
wholesale power supplier will not increase rates  
in 2019. 

TOP AND MIDDLE: Basin Electric’s Dakota Gasification 
Company went through a transformation in 2018, reducing 
the number of employees. Basin Electric will not have a rate 
increase in 2019. 

RIGHT: Mike Cowell, shift operator, checks the Wisdom Unit 2 
combustion compartment Oct. 19. The unit was called on 70 
times to operate for reliability and economics in the region.
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Transforming How We Deliver
Several new transmission projects throughout 2018 reflect changes within the power delivery infrastructure.

PRESTAGE FOODS OF IOWA
Work continued in 2018 building new infrastructure to serve the 
largest load in the Corn Belt Power system. Prestage Foods of Iowa, a 
pork processing plant and a member of Prairie Energy Cooperative, is 
building a new facility south of Eagle Grove. 

To serve the plant, Corn Belt Power crews built a 1.5-mile section of  
69 kilovolt line from the co-op’s existing Troy Substation. Electricians 
upgraded transformers and regulators at the facility and added another 
bay, increasing the number of line feeds available from four to seven. 

Corn Belt Power personnel also built the Prestage Family Substation 
and Switching Station to serve the new Prestage plant. Two 20 mega-
volt-ampere transformers and dual capacitor banks will strengthen 
reliability and keep the facility in service during maintenance work or 
an unplanned outage.

Corn Belt Power hired Highline Construction Inc., Paynesville, Minn., 
to build three sections of 69 kilovolt transmission line to serve the 
Prestage plant.

Corn Belt Power crews construct the Prestage Family 
Substation and Switching Station, southwest of Eagle 
Grove. Prestage Foods of Iowa is Corn Belt Power’s 
largest single load.
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NEW VALUE-ADDED LOADS
To serve additional growth in value-added agricultural 
loads, Corn Belt Power crews built Ralston Substation, 
Ralston, to serve REG’s biodiesel plant expansion, a 
member of Raccoon Valley Electric Cooperative, and 
Scott Substation, to serve New Cooperative’s feed mill, 
Rowan, located on Prairie Energy Cooperative’s lines.

RECONDUCTORING, ADDING FIBER
A 9.44-mile transmission line reconductoring project 
in Sac County not only advances Corn Belt Power’s 
strategic plan to strengthen and update its transmission 
system, but also includes fiber optic cable, technically 
known as optical ground wire (OPGW), to facilitate a 
loop for a more reliable communications system.

In September, Corn Belt Power crews began work  
reconductoring a north-south section of line that 
starts near MidAmerican Energy Company’s Buena  
Vista County Switching Station between Alta and 
Storm Lake and runs south to MidAmerican’s Sac 
County Switching Station three miles north of 
Schaller. The reconductoring project adds heavier 
conductor and spaces poles more closely together to 
strengthen the line, originally built in 1950. 

Corn Belt Power crews are installing OPGW for the 
first time in place of a static wire. Part of the southwest 
microwave loop project, the OPGW will facilitate 
communications between MidAmerican Energy’s Sac 
County and Buena Vista County switching stations and 
continuing to Corn Belt Power’s Storm Lake Switching 
Station. Fiber provides a wider bandwidth to carry 
more data than radio communications can. 

Corn Belt Power’s communications personnel have  
purchased new fiber testing and splicing equipment 
and will be responsible for completing the indoor  
splicing step of the installation process.

The reconductoring project will cost approximately 
$100,000 a mile, or a total of $1 million. Installing 
OPGW in place of static wire accounts for approximately 
$20,000 of the cost for each mile completed.

TOP: Jake McCullough, apprentice electrician, 
guides a new regulator into place at Troy  
Substation to serve expanding load. 

BOTTOM: Humboldt electrical maintenance crews 
construct the new Ralston Substation to support 
load for a nearby soybean processing plant.
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TOP: Corn Belt Power transmission crews string 10 miles of fiber 
optic cable along the Sac to Buena Vista line southeast of Alta. 

RIGHT: Mike Finnegan, system electrical superintendent, and 
Noah Henderson, journeyman electrician, secure an insulator 
inside the Scott Substation. The new substation serves a NEW 
Cooperative feed mill on Prairie Energy Cooperative’s lines.
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NEW SCADA
A new supervisory control and data acquisition (SCADA) 
system installed in Corn Belt Power Cooperative’s control 
center in 2018 offers more secure and robust hardware 
and software that provide greater redundancy and 
increased speed for system operations.

A team of Corn Belt Power employees researched new 
SCADA systems, selected a vendor, tested equipment  
and worked with installation of the new system over  
the past three years. Organized in clusters, the new  
equipment has fewer physical servers that can do more 
than the previous equipment could. Additionally, the  
cluster structure provides more redundancy in operation, 
even when some equipment is down for maintenance. 

Not only does the new hardware operate faster and 
better for system operation, but it also strengthens 
cybersecurity measures. New “state estimator” software 
helps troubleshoot problems before they can occur and 
interrupt system operations. 

STORM REPAIR
Although new circumstances are transforming how 
Corn Belt Power delivers power, some events such as 
storm outages continue each year. Tornadic winds the 
evening of June 9 downed a mile of Corn Belt Power’s 
double circuit 69 kilovolt transmission line in Floyd 
County. The storm caused outages in five Corn Belt 
Power substations. Crews operated switches manually 
to re-energize Corn Belt Power facilities. 

Linemen cleared a road that was blocked with broken 
poles. Continued wet and stormy weather conditions 
hampered work to rebuild the downed line, requiring  
a couple of weeks to complete the project.

LEFT: Joel Haynes, outage coordinator, seated, works 
on the new supervisory control and data acquisition 
(SCADA) system with Nick Orndorff, consultant, Power 
System Engineering. Corn Belt Power cut over to the 
new system in June.

RIGHT: Corn Belt Power crews work to restore a mile of 
line in Floyd County that was downed by high winds in 
early June.
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Transforming 
How We Serve
SALES AND PEAK DEMAND
Corn Belt Power set a new sales record in 2018.  
Extreme temperatures throughout the year played a  
major role in the sales record. Heating and cooling  
degree days were much above average. While sales  
were up (see chart on page 4), member-cooperatives 
were able to keep a lid on demand. Corn Belt Power’s 
peak demand in 2018 was set in July at 311,630 kW. 
Corn Belt Power’s average load factor was up two  
percentage points to 81 percent. 

GROWING COMMERCIAL AND  
INDUSTRIAL LOAD
Calculations in early 2018 forecast that approximately 
67 percent of the electricity Corn Belt Power delivers  
to member co-ops serves non-residential loads. With 
the addition of Prestage Foods of Iowa – the largest load 
in the Corn Belt Power system at 23 megawatts – and 
other value-added agricultural growth, that number 
will likely soon surpass the 70 percent mark. 

A survey conducted in the spring of 2018 of commercial 
and industrial members of Corn Belt Power’s member  
co-ops showed high overall satisfaction with the service 
they receive from their cooperative. Aggregated survey 
results for all co-ops showed 82 percent of respondents 
gave an overall satisfaction rating of 8 to 10 on a 10-point 
scale. Attributes that scored the highest include: 

•  Restores power quickly – 98%
•  Has knowledgeable and competent employees – 94%
•  Conducts business in a professional manner – 91%

Attributes rated lowest were:
• Provides electricity at lowest possible cost
• Uses renewable energy like wind and solar

Although the respondents had a lower satisfaction score 
for their co-ops’ involvement in renewable energy, they 
also rated that attribute the lowest on importance and 61 
percent of businesses responded they would not be willing 
to pay more for renewable energy.

Systemwide, businesses in northern Iowa reported an  
optimistic view of their future, with six out of 10 reporting 
they plan to expand their operations, with half of them 
stating they would do so in the next two years.

Corn Belt Power  
System Peak Demand – Monthly
Corn Belt Power system peak (RECs + NIMECA/Webster City) x 1.06 at time of Corn Belt Power 30-minute system peak.
Beginning January 2016, Corn Belt Power system peak (RECs +NIMECA/ Webster City) x 1.0075 at time of Corn Belt Power 
30-minute system peak due to membership in the Southwest Power Pool.
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INDUSTRIAL PARK DEVELOPMENT
With the sale of the last available lot in the original plat 
of Spencer Technical Park, the 50-plus-year history of 
Corn Belt Power’s first economic development project 
came to a close. 

In September, IGL Construction purchased a five-acre  
lot in the industrial park, the last section of land 
available in the original plat. The company will provide 
“business vaults” – similar to storage units that have 
electrical, gas, sewer and water services, to small business 
operations. Start up or existing businesses that locate 
in the business vaults will help grow power sales on 
Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative’s lines.

In Corn Belt Power’s system, economic development 
started with establishment of the Spencer Technical 
Park in the early 1960s. Corn Belt Power developed the 
120-acre industrial park with the objective to increase 
industrial growth on electric co-op lines. 

In other industrial park news, Gov. Kim Reynolds 
headlined the list of speakers noting the value of 
economic development at a ribbon cutting Aug. 8 for 
a new speculative building in the Spirit Lake East 
Industrial Park.

Built in partnership with the Iowa Lakes Corridor  
Development Corporation with funding from Iowa 
Lakes Electric Cooperative and Corn Belt Power, the 
new building offers 30,000 square feet and is located 
along Highway 9 on the east side of Spirit Lake. 

ILEC received a $300,000 Rural Economic Development 
Grant from the USDA Rural Development and matched 
it with $60,000. ILEC and Corn Belt Power provided 
additional funding from their respective Revolving 
Loan Funds.

TOP: Spencer Technical Park, a 120-acre industrial park, is now full. The last five-acre  
lot was sold in late 2018. The site was originally purchased in 1958. 

MIDDLE: Gov. Kim Reynolds cuts the ribbon on the new 2018 speculative building in the 
East Lake Industrial Park, Spirit Lake, Aug. 8. The building was constructed by the Iowa 
Lakes Corridor Future Fund with a $180,000 loan from both Corn Belt Power and Iowa 
Lakes Electric. 

BOTTOM: Peterson Transportation, Inc. received a $150,000 loan from Corn Belt Power 
and a $50,000 loan from Calhoun County REC for the purchase of 12 new semi-trucks.
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2018 Revolving Loan Fund Activity
Corn Belt Power Cooperative’s $7 million Revolving Loan 
Fund helps build the rural economy. 

REDL&G – Rural Economic Development Loan & Grant

REDG – Rural Economic Development Grant

REDL – Rural Economic Development Loan

IRP – Intermediary Relending Program

RLF – Revolving Loan Fund

Belmond Medical Center, Garner: 
•  New medical clinic
•  $1,000,000 USDA REDL each from Corn Belt Power and 

Prairie Energy 
•  Project is off system 

4 Carnivores Company, Stanhope: 
•  Acquire meat locker
•  Corn Belt Power loaned $62,400 from its RLF
•  Project is off system 

Estherville Area Growth Partnership:
•  Purchased 42 acres to expand Estherville Industrial Park
•  Corn Belt Power and Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative each 

loaned up to $500,000 from their RLFs 
•  Served by Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative 

Farm House, LLC, Fredericksburg: 
•  Acquire bed and breakfast, winery
•  Corn Belt Power and Butler County REC each loaned 

$150,000 from their RLFs 
•  Property served by Fredericksburg Municipal Utilities 

Graettinger Economic Development Council, Graettinger: 
•  Construct 20th speculative home
•  Corn Belt Power, Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative and  

Homeward each loaned $50,000 from their RLFs
•  Property served by Graettinger Municipal Utilities 

Humboldt County Hospital, Humboldt: 
•  Hospital expansion
•  $360,000 USDA REDG approved; close 2019
•  $1,000,000 USDA REDL from Midland Power; close 2019
•  Property is off system 

Humboldt County Housing Development  
Corporation, Humboldt: 
•  Construct Building Trades House #17 in Eagle Ridge Addition 
•  Corn Belt Power, Midland Power & Homeward each loaned 

$110,000 from their RLFs towards the project
•  Construction will be completed in May 2019
•  Project is off system 

Iowa Base, Nashua: 
•  Manufacturer of concrete pole bases
•  Business expansion
•  Corn Belt and Butler County REC each loaned  

$122,518 from their RLFs
•  Project served by Butler County REC

Iowa Lakes Corridor Future Fund, Spirit Lake: 
•  30,000-square-foot speculative buildings, East Lake  

Industrial Park
•  Corn Belt Power loaned up to $180,000 from its revolving 

loan fund; Iowa Lakes Electric loaned up to $540,000  
toward the project (RLF and REDG funds) 

•  Served by Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative

Iowa River Dentistry, Iowa Falls: 
•  Purchase dental clinic
•  $202,500 USDA REDL approved; close 2019
•  Property is off system 

Peterson Transportation, Manson: 
•  Trucking company that delivers goods and steel across  

the United States 
•  Purchased 12 new semi-trucks and trailers and adding  

8 employees
•  Corn Belt Power loaned $150,000 and Calhoun County REC 

loaned $50,000 from their RLFs towards the project 
•  Project served by Calhoun County REC  

Suidae Health and Production, PC, Algona: 
•  Swine veterinary clinic
•  Purchased and renovated the armory in Algona to increase 

space for employees
•  Corn Belt Power and Midland Power loaned $125,000 each 

from their RLFs; Iowa Lakes Electric loaned $250,000 from 
its RLF to assist with the project

•  Project anticipated to add three jobs within three years 
•  Project served by Algona Municipal Utilities
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Transforming 
Our Message
GOVERNMENT RELATIONS EFFORTS
Directors and staff represented Corn Belt Power  
at grassroots lobbying events throughout the year, 
including the Legislative Conference in May and the 
Legislative Fly-in in September when they visited 
with Iowa’s delegation in Washington, D.C. Topics of 
concern included protecting co-ops’ non-profit status 
after changes in the Internal Revenue Code Section 118 
resulted in treating government grants as gross income.  
Co-op representatives also discussed the loan and 
grants program in the Farm Bill 
Reauthorization and the importance 
of rightsizing pension premiums for 
electric co-ops. TOP: Corn Belt Power hosted U.S. Sen. Chuck Grassley May 30 at 

Corn Belt Power headquarters. Grassley discussed energy issues 
with a group of about 45 co-op employees, managers and directors. 

RIGHT: Gary Poppe, director, Corn Belt Power and Butler County 
REC, greets Sen. Joni Ernst at a meeting held during the NRECA 
Legislative Conference April 10 in Washington, D.C.
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Electric co-op representatives met with state legislators 
during REC Day on the Hill March 14 at the State 
Capitol in Des Moines, and sent directors and staff to 
legislative meetings in the fall to meet newly elected 
and re-elected state representatives and senators. 

State legislators passed Senate File 2311 in the spring, 
initiating several changes in how electric utilities  
operate. Electric co-ops welcomed fewer requirements 
for energy efficiency reporting. 

Even with fewer regulations on utilities, Corn Belt  
Power still encourages efficient use of electricity, as 
seen by the addition of a new air source heat pump  
incentive for members with a gas backup heat source 
and by continued efforts to educate about energy 
efficiency through events such as the Momentum is 
Building conference. 

Politicians visited Corn Belt Power headquarters 
during the year. Sen. Charles Grassley met with Corn 
Belt Power employees and directors May 30, and newly 
re-elected Gov. Kim Reynolds and Lt. Gov. Adam Gregg 
stopped in Humboldt Dec. 13.

LEFT: Corn Belt Power Cooperative staffed a display 
educating state legislators about the cooperative and 
its generating sources during REC Day on the Hill 
March 14 at the State Capitol, Des Moines. 

RIGHT: Gov. Kim Reynolds and Lt. Gov. Adam Gregg 
stopped at Corn Belt Power’s headquarters in December 
to touch base with rural constituents.
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Throughout 2018, Corn Belt Power and its members communicated 
about the cooperative business model through the Touchstone 
Energy brand. Corn Belt Power and Basin Electric staff created 
the new “Power is Yours” video campaign featuring distribution 
co-op employees and directors explaining the purpose and  
operation of cooperatives. Corn Belt Power placed the videos  
for members to view online. Companion radio spots also  
communicated the main messages.

Corn Belt Power facilitated American Customer Satisfaction  
Index (ACSI) research for its member co-ops in 2018. Member 
co-ops scored results in the high 80s and even above 90, surpassing 
the national Touchstone Energy average of 79, investor-owned 
utilities’ average of 75 and municipal utilities average of 72. 

The Touchstone Energy brand greeted members at the Iowa 
State Fair 4-H Exhibits Building and the Farm Progress Show. 

Co-op employees demonstrated their commitment to community 
by participating in the Touchstone Energy Volunteer Challenge 
throughout the year, donating hundreds of volunteer hours to 
charitable and community organizations. One winner drawn 
monthly received a $100 donation to the organization of his  
or her choice. 

This year’s winner of the Touchstone Energy Volunteer Challenge 
Grand Prize was Shelly Tredway of Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative. 
Shelly gave her $500 prize to her church, Grandview Baptist in 
Estherville. The donation will go to the church’s Awana program. 

Corn Belt Power also demonstrated the Touchstone Energy  
value of commitment to community by making charitable  
donations throughout the year, including a major donation to 
the new Humboldt Recreation Center, which was matched by 
Basin Electric and CoBank.

TOP: Member cooperatives, Corn Belt Power and Basin Electric teamed  
up to create The Power is Yours campaign in 2018. The campaign  
highlights that cooperatives are member-owned, board-run,  
not-for-profit and committed to community. 

MIDDLE LEFT: The Humboldt Recreation Center receives donation checks 
from Karen Berte, senior vice president, finance and administration. The 
new recreation center opened in late 2018. 

MIDDLE RIGHT: Touchstone Energy Cooperatives of Iowa, including Corn 
Belt Power, promote the brand at the Iowa State Fair in August. 

BOTTOM: The 2018 Touchstone Energy Volunteer Challenge winner, Shelly 
Tredway, manager of accounting, Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative donates 
her $500 grand prize to her church’s Awana program.
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COMMERCIAL & INDUSTRIAL/AG OTHER 327,945 kWh

COMMERCIAL & INDUSTRIAL/VARIABLE  
FREQUENCY DRIVE MOTORS 4,324,051 kWh

COMMERCIAL & INDUSTRIAL AG LIGHTING 12,593,990 kWh

Energy Efficiency Savings, 
Commercial & Industrial

Energy Efficiency Savings, Residential
RECs + NIMECA/Webster City

Residential Energy Audits

Insulation & Weatherization

Low-Income Kits

Pull the Plug

Energy Star Appliances

Low Flow Showerheads Aerators

High Efficiency Water Heaters

Residential Lighting

Air Conditioning & Other

Air Source Heat Pumps

Geothermal Heat Pumps

COOPERATIVE
2017 KWH BILLED  

BY CORN BELT POWER
2018 KWH BILLED  

BY CORN BELT POWER

BOONE VALLEY ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE 10,273,799 10,718,266

BUTLER COUNTY REC 262,180,030 279,057,974

CALHOUN COUNTY REC 43,113,420 44,862,162

FRANKLIN REC 64,232,073 66,706,624

GRUNDY COUNTY REC 67,105,641 71,587,501

IOWA LAKES ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE 599,576,892 617,001,072

MIDLAND POWER COOPERATIVE 340,148,067 365,075,438

NIMECA/WEBSTER CITY 109,641,593 114,462,129

PRAIRIE ENERGY COOPERATIVE 283,227,347 300,705,140

RACCOON VALLEY ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE 143,030,654 146,476,919

2018 Sales to Corn Belt Power  
Member Cooperatives 
Includes sales to member cooperatives for special loads and municipals

 100,000 200,000 300,000 400,000 500,000 600,000 700,000 800,000 900,000 1,000,000
          

0
kWh
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RETIREMENTS
Jim Sayers  Energy Services Director
Bob Nielsen Transmission Superintendent
Jerry Moritz  System Electrical Superintendent
Susan Richardson Administrative Assistant
Kathy Taylor  Vice President, Corporate Relations
Lance Tinken Meter Technician
Steve Bohan  Senior Financial Analyst

PROMOTIONS
Ryan Conlon  Journeyman Lineman to Line Foreman
Mike Finnegan   Journeyman Electrician to System  

Electrical Superintendent
Marena Fritzler  Graphic Designer to Marketing Director
Noah Henderson   Apprentice Electrician to  

Journeyman Electrician
Jim Mertz   Journeyman Electrician to  

Electrical Maintenance Foreman
Jacob Olberding   Assistant Plant Manager to Vice President,  

Power Supply
Andy Stalzer  Journeyman Lineman to Meter Technician
Jeremy Stattelman   Line Foreman to Transmission Superintendent
Rod Stephas  Shift Operator to Assistant Plant Manager
Josie Ubben  Drafting and Design Technician to  

Engineering and Operations Assistant
Ross Welterlen   Energy Services Engineer to  

Director of Energy Services Engineering

NEW EMPLOYEES
Courtney Christensen Administrative Assistant
Jeff Codner  Apprentice Lineman
Ryan Cornelius  Manager, Corporate Relations 
Alex Hartwig  Apprentice Electrician
Shawn Ruberg  Apprentice Electrician

SERVICE AWARDS 2018:
Karen Berte  Senior Vice President, Finance and 

Administration, 35 years
Dennis Evans  Foreman, Field Engineering, 30 years
Sarah Dornath  Administrative Assistant, 30 years
Patrick Connor  Plant Manager, 25 years
Jim Vermeer   Vice President, Business Development,  

20 years
Josie Ubben   Engineering and Operations Assistant,  

15 years
Mike Devers  Journeyman Field Technician, 10 years
Andy Stalzer  Meter Technician, 10 Years
Matt Wittrock  Journeyman Field Technician, 10 years
Jon Behounek  System Operator, 5 years
Matt Donald  Journeyman Electrician, 5 years
Kari Rubel  Accountant, 5 years
Andrew Thompson  Scada Technician, 5 years
Mitch Thompson  Journeyman Electrician, 5 years
Ross Welterlen   Director of Energy Services Engineering,  

5 years
Ashly Zinnel  Accountant, 5 years

Human Resources Update
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Transforming 
Who We Are
EMPLOYEE LEAD PROGRAM
To help develop leadership skills in its existing  
employees, Corn Belt Power established the  
Leadership Exploration and Development (LEAD) 
program in 2018.

Working with Kathy Peterson of PeopleWorks, Inc., 
Corn Belt Power personnel developed a program outline 
that includes a 360 degree assessment, guest speakers 
from each department, tours of Corn Belt Power facilities 
and trips to affiliated organizations’ headquarters.

Participants learn about topics such as setting goals, 
leading change, managing stress and dealing with  
difficult conversations. Those in the program attend 
sessions about cooperative financials, generating sources, 
electric rates and the cooperative business model.

Josie Ubben, center, engineering and operations 
assistant, is guided through a mousetrap maze with 
her shoes off and her eyes closed as part of a LEAD 
exercise in August that dealt with trust, communication 
and listening. The LEAD program develops leadership 
skills in existing employees and future leaders.
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PERSONNEL CHANGES
Two new directors joined the Corn Belt Power board of 
directors in 2018. Gary Poppe filled the Butler County 
REC seat of retiring director Donald Feldman, and 
LaVerne Arndt was appointed to fill the unexpired term 
of Calhoun County REC’s director Terry Finley, who 
passed away Oct. 26. 

Two new distribution co-op managers started in 2018, 
with Tim Marienau taking the helm as chief executive 
officer in February at Prairie Energy Cooperative and 
Keaton Hildreth the new chief executive officer at  
Calhoun County REC.

With the August departure of Mike Thatcher as vice 
president, generation, Jacob Olberding took over  
leadership of the newly named Power Supply Department. 
Kathy Taylor, vice president, corporate relations, retired 
in December and was succeeded as Corporate Relations 
department head by Ryan Cornelius, manager,  
corporate relations.

Approximately 50 employees and directors from Corn 
Belt Power and its member systems attended Orientation 
Days Jan. 18 or 19 in Humboldt, learning about all 
aspects of the cooperative’s operations. 

Electric co-ops around the nation re-elected Tresa  
Hussong, vice president, customer/corporate relations, 
Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative, Dec. 12 to a second 
three-year term on the Touchstone Energy Cooperatives 
board of directors. Corn Belt Power, one of 28 regional 
members in the Touchstone Energy system  
nominated Hussong.

‘A’ CREDIT RATINGS
Credit agencies affirmed Corn Belt Power’s “A” credit 
ratings in 2018, citing the cooperative’s long-term 
contracts with Basin Electric and its member coops, 
and Corn Belt Power’s ability to set its own rates. The 
agencies mentioned Corn Belt Power’s concentrated 
customer base and high reliance on coal-fired  
generation as negatives for the co-op.

DON FELDMAN
Corn Belt Power  
Board President
Butler County REC
Retired, 2018

GARY POPPE
Corn Belt Power  
Board Member
Butler County REC
Elected, 2018

TERRY FINLEY
Corn Belt Power  
Board Member
Calhoun County REC
Passed Away, 2018

LAVERNE ARNDT
Corn Belt Power  
Board Member
Calhoun County REC
Appointed, 2018
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Brian Gibson, chief system operator, explains control center operations 
to Orientation Day attendees Jan. 18 in Humboldt. Sessions preceding 
the tour included information on Corn Belt Power history, generating 
sources, substations and transmission lines, finances and public 
relations. Approximately 50 employees and directors from Corn  
Belt Power and its member systems attended.

In 2018, ratings agencies noted these positive  
attributes of Corn Belt Power Cooperative:
•  A long-term contract with Basin Electric Power Cooperative 

extending through 2075, which enhances operational stability

•   Long-term contracts with its nine member cooperatives  
extending through 2075

•    Rate setting autonomy for Corn Belt Power and each of its  
member cooperatives

•   The cooperative had stable operating and financial performance 
over the past two years. Projections note that the business 
conditions and regulatory climate are expected to be stable. 

These negatives were noted for the cooperative:

•  Lower financial metrics, offset partially by stability and lower risk

•   A concentrated customer base, with roughly 31 percent of the  
cooperative’s energy sales attributable to the system’s top 10  
customers, most of which are ethanol refineries

•   High reliance upon coal-fired generating units for about  
two-thirds of the cooperative’s total power supply

”
“I am pleased the rating agencies 

affirmed Corn Belt’s ‘A’ rating. We 
take the rating process seriously and it is 
important to us that the rating agencies 
thoroughly understand Corn Belt  
Power. This affirmation shows Corn 
Belt’s strong financial condition, 
which is important as we continue to 
work to support the needs of our members.
 
~  Karen Berte, Senior Vice President,  

Finance and Administration, Corn Belt Power Cooperative

A
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Department Heads

Ryan Cornelius
Manager,  

Corporate Relations

Jacob Olberding 
Vice President,  
Power Supply

Jim Vermeer
Vice President,  

Business Development

Ken Kuyper
Executive Vice President  

and General Manager

Karen Berte
Senior Vice President, 

Finance and Administration

Kevin Bornhoft
Vice President, Engineering 

and System Operations

Scott Stecher 
President, Prairie Energy 

Cooperative 

Dale Schaefer 
Vice President, Franklin REC

Charles Gilbert 
Basin Electric Power Cooperative 
Representative, Midland Power 

Cooperative 

Gary Poppe 
Butler County REC 

LaVerne Arndt 
Calhoun County REC

Brad Honold 
North Iowa Municipal Electric  

Cooperative Association 

Jerry Beck 
Secretary, Iowa Lakes Electric 

Cooperative 

David Onken 
Treasurer, Raccoon Valley 

Electric Cooperative

Larry Rohach 
Assistant Secretary/Treasurer, 

Grundy County REC 

Board of Directors
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2
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1.    Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative

2.   Midland Power Cooperative

3.   Boone Valley Electric Cooperative

4.  Prairie Energy Cooperative

5.  Franklin REC

6.  Butler County REC

7.   Raccoon Valley Electric Cooperative

8.  Calhoun County REC

9.  Grundy County REC

      North Iowa Municipal Electric  

Cooperative Association (NIMECA)

(Serving municipal utilities of Algona, Alta, Bancroft,  
Coon Rapids, Graettinger, Grundy Center, Laurens,  
Milford, New Hampton, Spencer, Sumner,  
Webster City and West Bend)
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Corn Belt Power Cooperative is 
a generation and transmission 
electric cooperative owned 
by its member systems. Corn 
Belt power provides electricity 
to nine member cooperatives 
and one municipal electric 
cooperative that serve farms, 
rural residences, small towns 
and commercial and industrial 
members in 41 counties in 
northern Iowa.

NEXT PAGE: Sam Moore, accountant; Karen Berte,  
senior vice president, finance and administration; and 
Ashly Zinnel, accountant; discuss Corn Belt Power  
financial statements. Corn Belt Power received  
“A” ratings from two credit agencies in 2018.



Corn Belt Power Cooperative
December 31, 2018 and 2017

Financials

TIER= 
  INTEREST + MARGIN 

  INTEREST

DSC= 
INTEREST + MARGIN + DEPRECIATION 

 TOTAL DEBT SERVICE 
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The Board of Directors 
Corn Belt Power Cooperative: 

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Corn Belt Power Cooperative, which comprise the balance sheets as of December 
31, 2018 and 2017, and the related statements of revenue and expenses, comprehensive income, membership capital, and cash flows for the 
years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and in accordance with the standards applicable to financial audits 
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such 
opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Corn Belt Power 
Cooperative as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance 
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

Other Matter 

As discussed in Note 2(k) to the financial statements, in 2018, the Cooperative adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2016-18, 
Restricted Cash. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated March 4, 2019 on our consideration of Corn Belt 
Power Cooperative’s internal control over financial reporting and on our test of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, grant agreements, and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance with the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial 
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering Corn Belt Power Cooperative’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Omaha, Nebraska  
March 4, 2019
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ASSETS 2018 2017 
ELECTRIC PLANT:

In service  $     537,831,416     517,085,993 

Less, accumulated depreciation (266,121,674) (254,060,461)

271,709,742 263,025,532 

Construction work in progress 9,760,236 10,810,055 

Nuclear fuel, net of amortization 8,087,633 8,572,357 

289,557,611 282,407,944 

OTHER PROPERTY AND INVESTMENTS:

Nonutility property 145,669 165,613 

Investment in the National Rural Utilities Cooperative
Finance Corporation (NRUCFC) 4,748,997 4,721,546 

Decommissioning funds 50,042,346 54,221,472 

Other investments 69,383,065 50,667,000 

Special funds 45,490,720 1,163,891 

Notes receivable 8,112,841 6,802,582 

Other assets 928,141 1,287,047 

178,851,779 119,029,151 

 

DEFERRED CHARGES:

DAEC regulatory asset 1,936,568 2,259,330 

Decommissioning regulatory asset 15,606,194 14,362,333 

17,542,762 16,621,663 

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents 3,952,001 4,320,411 

Special funds  3,700,000  1,000,000 

Member accounts receivable 11,602,158 12,981,611 

Other receivables 1,286,395 1,701,128 

Inventories:

Fuel 3,737,240 6,818,533 

Materials and supplies 11,046,880 11,347,729 

Prepayments 579,947 221,221 

35,904,621 38,390,633 

 $     521,856,773    456,449,391 

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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MEMBERSHIP CAPITAL AND LIABILITIES 2018 2017 

MEMBERSHIP CAPITAL:

 Memberships, at $100 per membership  $                 1,100                 1,100 

 Deferred patronage dividends, restricted  87,441,000 67,862,811 

 Other equities  59,833,091 59,057,645 

 Accumulated other comprehensive income 899,540 8,720,803 

148,174,731 135,642,359 

LONG-TERM DEBT:

 Federal Financing Bank  170,850,443 182,395,277 

 Revenue bonds 12,687,500 13,140,000 

 NRUCFC 82,343,186 3,853,653 

 CoBank 4,042,500 34,562,500 

 USDA intermediary relending program  5,814,025 4,959,837 

275,737,654 238,911,267 

 Less, current maturities of long-term debt  16,497,450 14,667,309 

259,240,204 224,243,958 

OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:

 DAEC decommissioning liability   64,749,000 59,863,000 

 Ash landfill retirement obligation 1,959,858 1,775,545 

 Deferred compensation plan 15,946 - 

66,724,804 61,638,545 

 

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

 Current maturities of long-term debt   16,497,450 14,667,309 

 Short-term debt   16,000,000 6,000,000 

 Accounts payable  7,676,785 9,516,065 

 Accrued property and other taxes  3,092,005 2,981,161 

 Deferred credits  3,707,882  1,006,914 

 Accrued interest and other 742,912 753,080 

47,717,034 34,924,529 

$      521,856,773     456,449,391 
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See accompanying notes to financial statements.



2018 2017 

OPERATING REVENUE: 

 Sale of electric energy  $     136,310,872    138,743,074 

 Other  16,385,519 15,146,582 

 Total operating revenue  152,696,391 153,889,656 

OPERATING EXPENSES: 

 Operation: 

 Steam and other power generation  34,620,273 30,662,037 

 Purchased power, net  67,450,635 75,094,750 

 Transmission 5,306,682 6,174,456 

 Sales  2,643,507 2,843,541 

 Administrative and general 4,077,350 3,705,706 

 Maintenance:  

 Steam and other power generation  7,190,644 6,038,624 

 Transmission  1,853,760 2,808,941 

 General plant  163,819 130,112 

 Depreciation and decommissioning   14,690,278 12,089,919 

 Gain on the disposition of property  (3) (3)

Total operating expenses 137,996,945 139,548,083 

Net operating revenue 14,699,446 14,341,573 

INTEREST AND OTHER DEDUCTIONS: 

 Interest on long-term debt  9,180,187 8,788,541 

 Interest during construction  (321,313) (106,483)

 Other interest and deductions  511,844 530,610 

Total interest and other deductions 9,370,718 9,212,668 

Net operating margin 5,328,728 5,128,905 

NONOPERATING MARGIN: 

 Interest and dividend income  768,148 459,772 

 Patronage income 18,475,364 6,127,576 

 Other, net   277,324 122,358 

Total nonoperating margin 19,520,836 6,709,706 

Net margin  $       24,849,564      11,838,611 
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See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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2018 2017 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 

 Net margin  $     24,849,564 11,838,611 

 Adjustments to reconcile net margin to net cash provided by operating activities: 

 Depreciation and decommissioning 14,690,278 12,089,919 

 Amortization of nuclear fuel 3,370,460 3,626,094 

 Amortization of pension prepayment  -    372,581 

 Undistributed patronage earnings from other investments (18,475,364) (6,121,514)

 Changes in current assets and liabilities: 

    Receivables 1,057,158 438,443 

    Inventories  3,382,142 540,512 

    Prepayments  (358,726) 25,525 

    Other - deferred costs   15,946  -   

    Accounts payable (1,973,038) 347,848 

    Accrued property and other taxes  110,844 (93,036)

    Deferred credits 2,700,968 998,929

    Accrued interest and other (10,168) (86,551)

       Net cash provided by operating activities  29,360,064 23,977,361

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:  

 Additions to electric plant, net (21,683,836) (17,536,555)

 Additions to nuclear fuel (2,885,736) (2,297,411)

 Sale of nonutility plant  19,944  40,545 

 Distributions from special funds  11,629,991 774 

 Additions to special funds  (55,956,818) (468)

 Additions to other investments, other assets, investments in NRUCFC, and notes receivable (2,241,887) (788,579)

 Deductions to other investments, other assets, investments in NRUCFC, and notes receivable 1,408,520  1,499,883  

       Net cash used in investing activities (69,709,822) (19,081,811)

2018 2017 

Net margin $     24,849,564 11,838,611 

Change in unrealized gain in fair value of investments  (7,821,263) 4,313,211 

 Comprehensive income  $      17,028,301 16,151,822 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 1 8  A N D  2 0 1 7

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 1 8  A N D  2 0 1 7

Continued on page 42
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CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:  

 Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt  81,000,000 38,027,000 

 Repayment of long-term debt (44,173,613) (13,838,243)

 Funds advanced short-term borrowings 18,000,000 7,000,000 

 Funds repaid short-term borrowings (8,000,000) (31,000,000)

 Patronage dividends paid   (4,503,945)  (4,614,375)

       Net cash provided (used) in financing activities   42,322,442 (4,425,618)

       Net increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash 1,972,684 469,932 

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASH AT:  

 Beginning of year 6,607,458 6,137,526 

 End of year   $       8,580,142 6,607,458 

RECONCILIATION TO CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH:

 General fund cash and temporary investments $      3,046,305 1,951,205 

 Working funds 905,696 2,369,206 

 Special funds/accounts 3,700,000 1,000,000 

 Revolving loan funds 928,141 1,287,047 

  $       8,580,142 6,607,458 

NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITY:  

 Construction work in progress included in accounts payable $          133,758  341,341 

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
income (loss)

Deferred
patronage
dividends

Statutory
surplus

Reserve for
contingent

lossesTotal Membership

Balance, December 31, 2016  $ 124,094,985  1,100  61,997,971  16,092,908  41,595,414  4,407,592 

2017 net margin  11,838,611  -    10,469,288  1,369,323  -    -   

Revenue deferred  
patronage dividends  9,927  -    9,927  -    -    -   

Change in net unrealized gain in  
fair value of investments  4,313,211  -    -    -    -    4,313,211 

Patronage dividends paid  (4,614,375)  -    (4,614,375)  -    -    -   

Balance, December 31, 2017  135,642,359  1,100  67,862,811  17,462,231  41,595,414  8,720,803 

2018 net margin  24,849,564  -    24,074,118  775,446  -    -   

Revenue deferred  
patronage dividends  8,016  -    8,016  -    -    -   

 Change in net unrealized gain in  
fair value of investments  (7,821,263)  -    -    -    -    (7,821,263)

Patronage dividends paid  (4,503,945)  -    (4,503,945)  -    -    -   

Balance, December 31, 2018  $  148,174,731  1,100  87,441,000  18,237,677  41,595,414  899,540 

Other Equities

STATEMENTS OF MEMBERSHIP CAPITAL
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 1 8  A N D  2 0 1 7

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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(1) Organization

  Corn Belt Power Cooperative (the Cooperative) is a Rural Utilities Service (RUS) financed generation and transmission cooperative 
created and owned by nine distribution cooperatives and one municipal cooperative association. Electricity supplied by the  
Cooperative serves farms, small towns, and commercial and industrial businesses in northern Iowa.

  The Cooperative’s Board of Directors (Board of Directors) is composed of one representative from each member cooperative and is 
responsible for, among other things, establishing rates charged to the member cooperatives.

(2) Significant Accounting Policies

  The Cooperative maintains its accounting records in accordance with the Uniform System of Accounts as prescribed by the RUS. 
The financial statements and the accompanying notes to the financial statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect  
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial  
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from 
those estimates.  The significant accounting policies are as follows:

 (a) Regulatory Matters

      The Cooperative’s utility operations are subject to provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting 
Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 980, Regulated Operations. Therefore, its utility operations recognize the effects of rate 
regulation by the Board of Directors and, accordingly, have recorded regulated assets to reflect the impact of regulatory 
items for which future rates will be increased to recover and regulated liabilities for revenue deferred at the discretion of 
the Board of Directors. The regulatory assets are included within deferred charges and the regulatory liabilities are included 
within deferred credits on the balance sheets.

 (b) Electric Plant

     Electric plant is stated at original cost, which includes payroll and related benefits and interest during the period of construction.

     Costs in connection with repairs of properties and replacement of items less than a unit of property are charged to maintenance 
expense.  Additions to and replacements of units of property are charged to electric plant accounts.

     Depreciation is provided using straight-line method and RUS-prescribed lives.  These provisions, excluding nuclear facilities, 
were equivalent to a composite depreciation rate on gross plant of 2.40% and 2.43% for 2018 and 2017, respectively.

     Under a joint-ownership agreement, the Cooperative has a 10% undivided interest in the Duane Arnold Energy Center 
(DAEC), a nuclear-fueled generating station, which was placed in service in 1974.  Beginning in 2018, the Cooperative began 
depreciating its interest in the DAEC on a straight-line basis through 2025.  The composite depreciation rate on gross plant 
for DAEC was 3.99% and 1.88% for 2018 and 2017, respectively.

 (c) Decommissioning of DAEC

    The Cooperative recognizes and estimates an asset retirement obligation (ARO) for its 10% share of the estimated cost to 
decommission DAEC. An Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) estimate of the decommissioning costs of DAEC was  
performed in 2015 and updated in 2018. This report estimated the Cooperative’s share of the decommissioning costs  
of DAEC to be approximately $83,357,100 (in 2018 U.S. dollars). The Cooperative is providing for overall nuclear  
decommissioning costs using a funding method designed to accumulate a decommissioning reserve sufficient to cover  
the Cooperative’s share of decommissioning costs by 2020, the year in which the the plant is expected to shut down.  
The plant was licensed until February 2034, however, NextEra Energy, majority owner/operator, received approval in  
late December from the Iowa Utilities Board to close the plant after the current operating cycle is complete.

  



Amortized
cost

Unrealized
gains

Unrealized
losses 

Fair
value

2018:

Corporate bonds and fixed income funds   $       5,927,207 17,071 165,384 5,778,894 

Common and preferred stock and funds 28,896,191 4,433,721 1,807,641 31,522,271 

Hedge funds 4,903  -  4,903    -   

Cash and cash equivalents 1,011,878  - - 1,011,878 

Foreign investments in common stock 12,868,463  51,940 1,623,921 11,296,482 

Foreign investments in government funds  434,164  1,238  2,581  432,821 

 $     49,142,806  4,503,970  3,604,430  50,042,346 

2017:

Corporate bonds and fixed income funds  $       2,583,116 151,312 23,137 2,711,291 

Common and preferred stock and funds 31,441,723 8,302,972 552,900 39,191,795 

Hedge funds 4,903  -  4,903  -   

Cash and cash equivalents 778,639  -  - 778,639 

Foreign investments in common stock 10,308,523  905,606  68,916 11,145,213 

Foreign investments in government funds  383,765  22,537  11,768  394,534 

 $    45,500,669  9,382,427  661,624  54,221,472 

    Realized gains and losses from the available-for-sale securities are determined on a specific-identification basis. Realized 
gains/(losses) on investments available-for-sale were $2,846,174 and $3,045,408 for 2018 and 2017, respectively. These 
gains/(losses) result in a reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) to the decommissioning 
regulatory asset.

N
O

TE
S 

TO
 F

IN
A

N
CI

A
L 

ST
AT

EM
EN

TS
D

E
C

E
M

B
E

R
 3

1
, 

2
0

1
8

 A
N

D
 2

0
1

7     The total fair value of the decommissioning funds accumulated at December 31, 2018 was $50,042,346, of which 
$31,610,394 has been placed in a fund legally restricted for use in decommissioning DAEC. The remaining $18,431,952, 
while not legally restricted, has been designated by the Cooperative for use in decommissioning DAEC. The total fair value of 
the decommissioning funds accumulated at December 31, 2017 was $54,221,472, of which $34,148,161 has been placed in a 
fund legally restricted for use in decommissioning DAEC. The remaining $20,073,310, while not legally restricted, has been 
designated by the Cooperative for use in decommissioning DAEC. 

    Decommissioning investments were classified as available-for-sale securities and are reported at fair value with unrealized 
gains and losses included as a component of comprehensive income. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, available-for-sale 
securities consisted of the following:
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Less than 12 months 12 months or greater Total

2017: Fair value
Unrealized

losses Fair value
Unrealized

losses Fair value
Unrealized

losses

Corporate bonds  $  1,429,849 (3,120) 1,489,318 (56,565)  2,919,167  (59,685)

Common and preferred  
stock and funds 2,400,570 (216,458) 1,095,077 (299,893)  3,495,647  (516,351)

Hedge funds  -    -    -    (4,903)  -    (4,903)

Foreign investments in  
common stock  47,737  (120.00) 1,426,156  (68,796)  1,473,893  (68,916)

Foreign investments in  
government funds  20,459  (52)  124,558  (11,717)  145,017  (11,769)

 $  3,898,615  (219,750)  4,135,109  (441,874)  8,033,724  (661,624)

    In evaluation of the other-than-temporary impairment, the Cooperative considers its intent and ability to hold these investments 
for a period of time sufficient to allow for the anticipated recovery in the market value of these investments, which may 
be maturity, the severity of the decline, and the length of time and the extent to which fair value has been below cost. The 
Cooperative does not consider these investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired at December 31, 2018 or 2017.   

 (d)  Nuclear Fuel

    The cost of nuclear fuel is amortized to steam and other power generation expenses based on the quantity of heat produced 
for the generation of electric energy.  Such amortization was $3,370,460 and $3,626,094 for 2018 and 2017, respectively.

 (e) Other Investments

    Other investments consist of funds held in trust (mainly from patronage income), cash held for the Cooperative’s  
intermediary relending program (note 9), and common and preferred stock. These investments are carried at cost and  
are reviewed annually for impairment. The Cooperative determined there were no impairments related to other investments 
for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Less than 12 months 12 months or greater Total

2018: Fair value
Unrealized

losses Fair value
Unrealized

losses Fair value
Unrealized

losses

Corporate bonds  $   5,177,452 (146,266) 2,355,547 (107,928)  7,532,999  (254,194)

Common and preferred  
stock and funds 29,112,376 (1,379,496) 655,790 (339,335) 29,768,166  (1,718,831)

Hedge funds  -    -    -   (4,903)  -    (4,903)

Foreign investments in  
common stock  11,296,482  (1,623,921)  -    -    11,296,482  (1,623,921)

Foreign investments in  
government funds  432,821  (2,581)  -    -    432,821  (2,581)

 $ 46,019,131  (3,152,264)  3,011,337  (452,166)  49,030,468  (3,604,430)

      The following tables show the gross unrealized losses and fair value of the Cooperative’s investments with unrealized 
losses aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous 
unrealized loss position, at December 31.



 46| TRANSFORMING HOW WE SERVE
 F I N A N C I A L S  |  2018

N
O

TE
S 

TO
 F

IN
A

N
CI

A
L 

ST
AT

EM
EN

TS
D

E
C

E
M

B
E

R
 3

1
, 

2
0

1
8

 A
N

D
 2

0
1

7  (f) Special Funds

    Special funds, excluding assets set aside to pay regulatory liabilities, consist of cash and cash equivalents held for investment 
purposes and investments. Investments held in special funds are classified as available-for-sale and are reported at fair  
value with unrealized gains and losses included as a component of comprehensive income or at their carrying amounts, 
which approximate fair value because of the short maturity of the investments.

 (g) Inventories

    Inventories consist of fuel (primarily coal), emission allowances, and materials and supplies carried at cost. The cost for 
inventories is determined on a weighted-average cost basis.

    The 1990 Clean Air Act (the Act) established the requirement for fossil fuel electric generating plants to hold sulfur  
dioxide (SO2) emission allowances under the Acid Rain Program (ARP). In 2015, the Cross-State Air Pollution Rule (CSAPR)  
established an additional SO2 allowance requirement along with adding nitrogen oxide (NOx) annual and seasonal  
allowances. The Act and CSAPR allocate a certain number of emission allowances to owners of fossil fuel generating plants 
that are affected by the rules and established corresponding APR SO2, CSAPR SO2, CSAPR NOx annual, and CSAPR NOx 
seasonal emission allowance trading programs. Emission allowances that have been granted to the Cooperative as a result 
of the Act and CSAPR do not have any cost, and therefore, the use of these emission allowances does not result in expense.  
From time to time, the Cooperative will purchase a quantity of each type of emission allowance to ensure an adequate 
number of allowances are held. The purchased allowances are combined with the allocated allowances to derive an average 
allowance cost each year for each type of emission allowance. Emission allowances purchased are capitalized in inventory 
and are charged to fuel expense as they are used in operations.

 (h) Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

    Accumulated other comprehensive income represents the net unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities held for  
decommissioning of DAEC and special funds.

 (i)  Interest During Construction

    Interest during construction represents the cost of funds used for construction and nuclear fuel refinement. The average  
rate was 3.11% and 2.28% for 2018 and 2017, respectively, and is based on the Cooperative’s costs of financing.

 (j) Income Taxes

    The Cooperative is exempt from federal and state income taxes under sections 501(c)(12) of the Internal Revenue Code. 
Accordingly, no provision for income taxes has been included in the Cooperative’s financial statements. The Cooperative 
recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not of being sustained. Recognized 
income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized. Changes in  
recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs.

 (k) Statements of Cash Flows

    For the purpose of reporting cash flows, the Cooperative considers investments purchased with a maturity of three months 
or less to be cash equivalents, except for restricted cash held for investing as part of the decommissioning and special 
funds. Cash and cash equivalents for purposes of reporting cash flows includes restricted cash and cash equivalents held for 
regulatory liabilities. Cash paid for interest was $9,182,120 and $8,786,608 for 2018 and 2017, respectively. During 2018, 
the Cooperative adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2016-18, Restricted Cash. As a result, the beginning and 
ending balance of cash equivalents on the statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2017 was increased by 
$1,144,076 and $2,287,047, respectively. In addition, the net cash provided by operating activities increased by $1,000,000 
and the net cash used by investing activities increased by $142,971.

 (l)  Operating Revenue and Cost of Power

    The Cooperative recognizes sales of electric energy and the related cost of electric energy produced or purchased when  
energy is delivered to customers.

 (m) Notes Receivable

    The Cooperative determines any impairment of notes receivable based on various factors that ultimately are used to  
calculate collectability. As part of the review, the Cooperative reviews the terms of the original note, nature of the  
transaction, history of repayment, and knowledge of borrower’s financial strength. No impairments were indicated  
for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.
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 (n) Major Maintenance Activities

   The Cooperative incurs maintenance costs on its major equipment. Repair and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. 

 (o) Long-Lived Assets

     Long-lived assets, such as property, plant, and equipment, and purchased intangible assets subject to amortization, are  
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset  
may not be recoverable. If circumstances require a long-lived asset or asset group be tested for possible impairment, the 
Cooperative first compares undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by that asset or asset group to its carrying 
amount. If the carrying amount of the long-lived asset or asset group is not recoverable on an undiscounted cash flow basis, 
an impairment is recognized to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds its fair value. There were no impairments of 
long-lived assets for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.

(3)   Agreements with Basin Electric Power Cooperative

  On September 1, 2009, the Cooperative became a Class A member of Basin Electric Power Cooperative (Basin Electric). As part of 
this agreement, energy and capacity needs of the Cooperative above the Western Area Power Administration allocation and a separate 
50 MW power purchase agreement with Basin Electric are to be provided by Basin Electric at Class A member rates. Further, the 
Cooperative sells the energy from its generation facilities at cost to Basin Electric, but continues to own and be responsible for those 
facilities. Also, a portion of the 161 kV transmission system that is contiguous with Basin Electric was leased to Basin Electric until  
October 1, 2015, when the Cooperative and Basin Electric entered Southwest Power Pool (SPP). During 2018 and 2017, respectively,  
as part of these agreements, the Cooperative purchased $102,511,711 and $101,226,039 of power and sold $69,159,478 and 
$61,656,646 of power to Basin Electric, which is recorded in the purchased power, net, in the statements of revenue and expenses.

(4)  Fair Value Measurements

 (a)  Fair Value of Financial Instruments

     The following describes the carrying amounts and estimated fair value of financial instruments and the methods and  
assumptions that were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments:

    Cash and cash equivalents, member accounts receivable, other receivables, certain special funds, short-term debt, accounts 
payable, and accrued liabilities - The carrying amounts, at face value or cost plus accrued interest, approximate fair value 
because of the short maturity of these instruments.

    Investment in the National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation (NRUCFC), other investments, and notes  
receivable - These accounts are recorded at cost. The Cooperative believes that the carrying value of these investments approxi-
mates fair value as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 due to the nature and interest rate of the accounts compared to market rates. 

    Decommissioning funds - The investments within the decommissioning funds and certain special funds are recorded at fair 
value. Equity securities classified as available-for-sale are measured using quoted market prices at the reporting date multiplied 
by the quantity held. Debt securities classified as available-for-sale are measured using quoted market prices multiplied by the 
quantity held when quoted market prices are available. If quoted market prices are not available, the fair values are estimated 
using pricing models, quoted prices of similar securities with similar characteristics, or discounted cash flow.  For hedge funds 
and managed future funds where no readily ascertainable market value exists, management, in consultation with investment 
advisors, values these investments in good faith at net asset value based upon the investment’s current financial statements or 
other information provided by the underlying investment advisor.

 (b)  Fair Value Hierarchy

    ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement, establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques 
used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to measurements involving significant unobservable 
inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

    Level 1 - Inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Cooperative has 
the ability to access at the measurement date.

    Level 2 - Inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

   Level 3 - Inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

    The level in the fair value hierarchy within which a fair value measurement in its entirety falls is based on the lowest-level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.
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Fair value measurements at December 31, 2018 using

December 31 
2018

Quoted prices in 
active markets for 

identical assets  
(Level 1)

Significant  
other  

observable  
inputs (Level 2) 

Significant  
unobservable 

inputs  
(Level 3) 

Assets:

Special funds:

Cash and cash equivalents  $                294 294  -    -   

Commercial paper  3,700,000  -    3,700,000  -   

Cushion of Credit - cash 44,320,475  44,320,475  -    -   

Certificates of deposit 37,214  -    37,214  -   

Corporate bonds 1,989  -    1,989 

Common and preferred stock and funds 13,957  13,957  -   

Obligations of the U.S. government and agencies 1,116,791  -    1,116,791 

Decommissioning funds:

Corporate bonds 5,778,894  -    5,778,894  -   

Common and preferred stock and funds 31,522,271 31,522,271  -    -   

Foreign investments in government funds  432,821  432,821  -    -   

Foreign investments in common stock  11,296,482  11,296,482  -    -   

Cash and cash equivalents  1,011,878  1,011,878  -    -   

Total  $    99,233,066  88,598,178  10,634,888  -   

Fair value measurements at December 31, 2017 using

December 31  
2017

Quoted prices in 
active markets for  

identical assets  
(Level 1)

Significant  
other  

observable  
 inputs (Level 2) 

Significant  
unobservable 

inputs  
(Level 3) 

Assets:

Special funds:

Cash and cash equivalents  $      1,004,155 1,004,155  -    -   

Certificates of deposit 43,906  -   43,906  -   

Obligations of the U.S. government and agencies 1,115,830  -    1,115,830  -   

Decommissioning funds:

Corporate bonds 2,711,291  -    2,711,291  -   

Common and preferred stock and funds 39,191,795 39,191,795  -    -   

Foreign investments in government funds  394,534  394,534  -    -   

Foreign investments in common stock  11,145,213  11,145,213  -    -   

Cash and cash equivalents  778,639  778,639  -    -   

Total  $    56,385,363  52,514,336  3,871,027  -   
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7     The following tables present assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2018 
and 2017:
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  Fair value of the Cooperative’s financial instruments is determined using the methods and assumptions as set forth below.  While 
the Cooperative believes that its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with those of other market participants, use 
of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different 
fair value at the reporting date.  There were no changes in valuation methodology from 2017 to 2018.

  Cash and cash equivalents - Cash equivalents consist of demand deposit accounts and investments with maturities of three 
months or less when purchased.  These are recorded at fair market using quoted market prices.  These are classified as Level 1 as 
they are traded in an active market for which closing prices are readily available.

  Commercial paper - Investments in commercial paper are reported at fair value plus accrued interest at the reporting date. These 
investments are classified as Level 2.

  Cushion of credit - Cushion of credit funds consist of advance payments to FFB and is valued based on the amount of cash held 
in the account.  The cushion of credit funds earn 5% and are restricted for payment of debt obligations. As such, these funds are 
classified as Level 1.

  Certificates of deposit - Certificates of deposit approximate fair value based on estimates using current market rates offered for 
deposits with similar remaining maturities and are classified as Level 2 securities. 

  Corporate bonds and government obligations and funds - Fixed income securities and government and  agency obligations are valued 
based upon observable market prices on the reporting date. When quoted prices of identical investment securities in active  
markets are not available, the fair values for the investment securities are obtained primarily from pricing services; one evaluated 
price is received for each security. The fair values provided by the pricing services are estimated using matrix pricing or other 
pricing models, where the inputs are based on observable market inputs or recent trades of similar securities. Such investment 
securities are generally classified as Level 2.

  Common and preferred stock - Investments in publicly traded equity securities and mutual funds are measured at fair value using 
quoted market prices. These are classified as Level 1 if they are traded in an active market for which closing market prices are 
readily available. 

(5)   Investment in the (NRUCFC), Notes Receivable, and Other Investments

 The Cooperative has investments carried at cost in the following:

2018 2017 

Common and preferred stock  $           459,156           455,359 

Funds held in trust 67,154,274 49,114,968 

Restricted other assets 2,697,776 2,383,720 

Investment in NRUCFC 4,748,997  4,721,546 

Economic development notes receivable 8,112,841 6,802,582 

 $      83,173,044       63,478,175 

The above investments are included in the accompanying balance sheets as follows:

2018 2017 

Investment in NRUCFC  $        4,748,997         4,721,546 

Notes receivable          8,112,841  6,802,582 

Other investments        69,383,065  50,667,000 

Other assets             928,141  1,287,047 

 $      83,173,044       63,478,175 
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As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, deferred regulatory debits and credits consisted of the following:

2018 2017 

Deferred regulatory debits:

DAEC regulatory asset          1,936,568  2,259,330 

Decommissioning regulatory asset       15,606,194  14,362,333 

 $      17,542,762       16,621,663 

Deferred regulatory credits:

Deferred credit  $        3,707,882         1,006,914 

  The Cooperative has an investment of $4,748,997 and $4,721,546 at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, with the 
NRUCFC. This investment is required in order to allow the Cooperative to borrow funds from NRUCFC. The investment earns 
interest of 5.0% on$2,000,000, which matures in 2044, 5.0% on $2,195,507, which matures between 2070 and 2080, and 3.0%  
on $121,789, which matures in 2025. The remaining balance of $431,701 does not earn interest.

  Notes receivable consist of notes to member cooperatives and other businesses to assist in economic development of qualifying 
industrial sites, speculative buildings, rural housing, and certain joint venture projects. Interest rates on these notes receivable 
range from 0% to 5%. The majority of these notes are generally due under 10-year agreements with payments due monthly on a 
ratable basis. There are no notes receivable past due or in default as of December 31, 2018 or 2017. The Cooperative reviews the 
need for reserve for uncollected accounts based on payment activity, historical collection rates, and collateral on the note. The 
Cooperative has determined no reserves were necessary at December 31, 2018 or 2017.

  Funds held in trust consist mainly of deferred patronage dividends related to the Cooperative’s membership in other cooperatives. 
At December 31, 2018 and 2017, $66,413,300 and $48,443,420, respectively, relates to the Cooperative’s deferred patronage  
dividends related to Basin Electric.

(6) Deferred Patronage Dividends and Other Equities

  In accordance with the Iowa Code, the Board of Directors is required to allocate a portion of the current year’s net margin to  
statutory surplus until the statutory surplus equals 30% of total membership capital. No additions can be made to statutory 
surplus whenever it exceeds 50% of total membership capital. In 2018 and 2017, the Board of Directors appropriated $775,446 
and $1,369,323 of net margins to statutory surplus, respectively.

  The equity-designated reserve for contingent losses in the statements of membership capital is an appropriation of equity by the 
Board of Directors. The Board of Directors appropriated $0 of net margin to reserve for contingent losses in 2018 and 2017. There 
is no statutory restriction of this equity.

  The Board of Directors is permitted by the Iowa Code to allocate the current year’s net margin to deferred patronage dividends 
upon meeting certain requirements and is required to make such allocations if the net margin for the year exceeds specified  
maximums. The Board of Directors has appropriated $24,082,134 and $10,479,215 of the 2018 and 2017 net margins, respectively, 
to deferred patronage dividends. Deferred patronage dividends are eligible to be paid in the future as determined by the Board of 
Directors under certain conditions.

  Under the conditions of the Cooperative’s indenture, deferred patronage dividends cannot be retired without approval of the RUS 
and the NRUCFC unless the remaining equity meets certain tests. The Cooperative met these tests at December 31, 2018 and 2017.

(7) Deferred Regulatory Debits and Credits

  Regulatory assets are recorded for expenses that are deferred and will be recovered through rates charged to members in future 
periods. Such deferrals are approved by the Board of Directors. The Cooperative does not earn a return on these regulatory assets. 
Regulatory credits are established for revenue that has been deferred as approved by the Board of Directors. These amounts will be 
included in income in the year that they are applied to future costs or otherwise returned to members through a reduction in rates.

N
O

TE
S 

TO
 F

IN
A

N
CI

A
L 

ST
AT

EM
EN

TS
D

E
C

E
M

B
E

R
 3

1
, 

2
0

1
8

 A
N

D
 2

0
1

7



TANSFORMING HOW WE SERVE |51F I N A N C I A L S  |  2018

N
O

TES TO
 FIN

A
N

CIA
L STATEM

EN
TS

D
E

C
E

M
B

E
R

 3
1

, 2
0

1
8

 A
N

D
 2

0
1

7

  DAEC Regulatory Asset - In 2008, the Cooperative, with Board of Directors approval, established a regulatory asset in conjunction 
with the deferral of depreciation costs related to the DAEC until the extension of the plant license had been approved by the 
NRC. The plant license was approved in December 2010, and accordingly, the Cooperative began amortizing the assets over the 
remaining life of the license through 2034. In 2017, the Board of Directors approved a change in the amortization of the  
regulatory asset to correspond with the current purchased power agreement NextEra Energy has with Interstate Power and 
Light Company, which ends in 2025. In 2018, the Board of Directors approved changing the amortization of the regulatory 
asset to coincide with the change in the life of the plant (note 2c).

  Decommissioning Regulatory Asset - In connection with the costs related to decommissioning of DAEC, the Cooperative has  
established a regulatory asset in conjunction with recording of the decommissioning liability. This regulatory asset is the  
difference between the decommissioning liability and the fair value of the investments in the decommissioning funds.

  Deferred Credit - In 2018, the Board of Directors established a deferred credit of $3,700,000. The revenue deferral was set aside in 
a cash account to cover expenditures in 2019 through 2023. In 2017, the Board of Directors approved a deferral of $1,000,000 of 
SPP revenue, which was returned to the members in the form of reduced revenue requirements in 2018. 

(8) Short-Term Debt

  The Cooperative had two separate credit agreements with both NRUCFC and CoBank, each providing $50,000,000 of available 
financing. These agreements expire in January 2021. 

  The Cooperative has drawn down on its credit facilities $16,000,000 and $6,000,000 as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,  
respectively. Interest rates for the advances outstanding at December 31, 2018 range from 3.54% to 3.62%.

(9) Long-Term Debt

  The Cooperative executed an Indenture of Mortgage, Security Agreement and Financing Statement, dated as of August 30, 2013 
(Indenture) between the Cooperative, as Grantor, to U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee. The Indenture provides secured 
note holders with a prorated interest in substantially all owned assets. Secured debt includes Federal Finance Bank (FFB), CoBank 
and certain parts of NRUCFC loans.

  Long-term debt consists of mortgage notes payable to the United States of America acting through the RUS from the FFB, NRUCFC, 
CoBank, revenue bonds issued due to agreements with Webster City, and notes borrowed through the USDA Intermediary Relending 
Program (IRP Notes) and Rural Economic Development Loan and Grant (REDLG Loans) Program. The proceeds of these IRP Notes 
and REDLG Loans are then lent to other eligible businesses within certain approved counties in the Cooperative’s service area.  
Substantially all the assets, rent, income, revenue, and net margin of the Cooperative are pledged as collateral for the long-term  
debt of the Cooperative, except for IRP Notes and REDLG Loans, which are not secured by assets of the Cooperative.

 Long-term debt has the following components:

2018 2017 

Mortgage notes due in quarterly installments:

FFB 1.63%-9.024%, due 2019-2039  $   170,850,443    182,395,277 

CoBank 3.47%, due 2019-2024 4,042,500 34,562,500 

NRUCFC 3.85%-6.25%, due 2019-2048 80,035,619 1,145,505 

NRUCFC 2.95%, due 2019-2024 2,307,567 2,708,148 

257,236,129 220,811,430 

Revenue bonds 3.50%-6.00%, due 2019-2036 12,687,500 13,140,000 

USDA Intermediary Relending Program - 0%-1%,  
due 2019-2042 5,814,025 4,959,837 

 $   275,737,654    238,911,267 
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  Restrictive covenants required the Cooperative to set rates that would enable it to maintain a margin for interest of 1.10.  
The Cooperative is also required to maintain a debt service coverage of 1.00 and a minimum membership capital balance  
of $70,000,000, excluding accumulated other comprehensive income, and achieve either an average equity ratio of not less  
than 10% or have been assigned a credit rating of BBB- or higher. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Cooperative was in 
compliance with its covenants on long-term debt with respect to these financial ratios.

  During 2018, the Cooperative borrowed $80,000,000 from the NRUCFC to finance transmission and distribution construction 
with rates ranging from 3.85% to 4.4%, $30,000,000 of the total was refinancing a CoBank loan for a lower rate.

  Since 1979, the Cooperative has had a long-term agreement with Webster City under which Webster City agreed to provide 
certain generation and transmission facilities to the Cooperative and the Cooperative has agreed to guarantee repayment of 
financing issued by Webster City to pay for these facilities and the continued improvement of these facilities. The Cooperative 
has recorded these assets in electric plant and has reflected the debt associated with this guarantee as long-term debt. Further, as 
part of the agreement, the Cooperative provided Webster City its wholesale power at rates consistent with rates charged to other 
Cooperative members. In September 2011, the Cooperative and Webster City entered into a new agreement to continue their 
relationship until December 2055.

  USDA Rural Development requires all IRP and REDLG loans to be fully insured. The Cooperative maintains IRP and REDLG 
accounts with Bank Iowa. In March 2017, the Cooperative and Bank Iowa entered into a deposit placement agreement to place 
funds over the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) limit into deposit accounts at receiving depository institutions. The 
destitution institutions will be depository institutions at which deposit accounts are insured by FDIC up to the maximum deposit 
insurance amounts.

 During 2018, the Cooperative borrowed $1,000,000 of funds from the USDA.

(10) Special Funds

  Special funds consist of money the RUS requires to be set aside for deferral of revenue (note 7), future removal of the Wisdom 
Unit 1 ash landfill, issuance of revenue bonds (note 9), deferred pension, and RUS Cushion of Credit.

2018 2017 

Ash landfill fund  $        37,508  48,061 

Deferred pension  15,946  - 

Deferred credit fund          3,700,000  1,000,000 

Revenue bonds fund 1,116,791 1,115,830 

RUS Cushion of Credit  44,320,475  - 

 $  49,190,720  2,163,891 

Maturities of long-term debt for the next five years are as follows:

Year

2019 $    16,497,450 

2020 16,428,391 

2021 16,137,022 

2022 16,187,988 

2023 16,246,612

Thereafter 194,240,191 

 $  275,737,654 
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Total
electric

plant
Accumulated
depreciation

Unit
accredited

capacity (MW)
Cooperative’s 

share (%)

Wisdom Unit 2  $      16,210,424  7,019,066 80  43.8 

Neal #4  85,648,050  47,304,226 644  11.3 

Walter Scott #3  31,531,856  16,023,999 697  3.8 

DAEC  127,445,338  87,716,386 614  10.0 

Walter Scott #4  72,595,000  20,902,249 817  5.6 

Walter Scott #4 - transmission  4,976,169  1,368,447  -    4.3 

Lehigh Webster - transmission  4,853,381  1,746,954  -    27.0 

Neal #3 Grimes-Lehigh - transmission  654,234  229,726  -    3.8 

  Each participant provided its own financing for its share of the unit. The Cooperative’s share of direct expenses of the jointly 
owned units is included in the operating and maintenance expenses on the statements of revenue and expenses.

  During 2006, the Cooperative; one of its members, North Iowa Municipal Electric Cooperative Association (NIMECA); and the 
city of Spencer, a NIMECA member, entered into a long-term generation use agreement of approximately 5 megawatts of the 
Cooperative’s capacity in the Wisdom Unit 2 generation facilities. The plant statistics have been reduced to reflect the agreement.

(11)  Commitments and Contingencies 

  In 2002, the Cooperative entered into a power purchase agreement to purchase 11.49% of the monthly generation from the  
Hancock County Wind Energy Center up to 11.22 megawatts. This agreement is effective through December 31, 2022, and rates 
are firm for the life of the contract.

  In 2007, the Cooperative entered into a power purchase agreement to purchase the monthly generation from Crosswind Energy, 
LLC up to 21 megawatts. This agreement is effective through June 15, 2022, and rates are firm for the life of the contract.

  A long-term purchased power agreement with Basin Electric began on January 1, 2008 for 50 MW and expires December 31, 2075.

  In 2008, the Cooperative entered into a power purchase agreement to purchase the monthly generation from Iowa Lakes Electric 
Cooperative’s two wind farms, both of which started generating in 2009. The agreement was amended in 2011, and the price is 
fixed for each of the years from 2018 to 2028. The Cooperative is only obligated to pay for power that is actually received and the 
projects are not dispatchable. 

  The Cooperative has reached a tentative agreement in its Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) rate case to determine 
its annual transmission revenue requirements as a member of SPP. Negotiations have reached a stalemate with the other two 
transmission owners in the zone 19 of SPP to determine how the Cooperative’s grandfathered agreements are incorporated into 
the rate. Settlement proceedings were terminated in August 2017. The settlement judge provided his report to the commission 
in October 2017. The Cooperative is waiting for a decision from FERC. There are three potential outcomes: 1) The settlement 
could be accepted as contested. The financial metrics negotiated would be kept as negotiated and the other owners would have 
to file a section 205 at FERC to change the grandfathered agreements; 2) The financial metrics could be accepted and send the 
grandfathered agreements to hearing; and 3) The entire case could be sent to hearing. The financial impact of the outcome of the 
negotiations could be up to $13 million. The Cooperative believes it is probable it will retain the transmission revenue previously 
collected due to the historical treatment of grandfathered agreements in Midcontinent Independent System Operator and past 
FERC rulings on attempts to terminate such agreements.

(12) Joint Plant Ownership

  Under joint ownership agreements with other utilities, the Cooperative had undivided interests at December 31, 2018 in electric 
plant, including construction work in progress, as shown below:
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  The Cooperative also recognizes a liability for its share of the estimated cost to remove the ash landfills at Walter Scott #3 and 
Neal #4. A reconciliation of the changes in the ARO is depicted below:

2018 2017 

Balance at January 1  $        1,775,545         1,702,057 

Changes in estimates, including timing 114,868    -   

Accretion expense  80,648  73,488 

Obligations incurred (11,203)  -   

Balance at December 31  $       1,959,858        1,775,545 

2018 2017 

Balance at January 1  $     59,863,000      75,584,000 

Changes in estimates, including timing  1,803,000  (18,572,000)

Accretion expense  3,083,000  2,851,000 

Balance at December 31 $     64,749,000     59,863,000 

(14) Nuclear Insurance Program

  Liability for accidents at nuclear power plants is governed by the Price-Anderson Act, which limits the liability of nuclear reactor 
owners to the amount of insurance available from both private sources and an industry retrospective payment plan. In accordance 
with this Act, DAEC maintains $450 million of private liability insurance, which is the maximum obtainable, and participates 
in a secondary financial protection system, which provides up to $13 billion of liability insurance coverage per incident at any 
nuclear reactor in the United States. The Cooperative’s assessment on its 10% ownership in DAEC is approximately $13.8 million 
per nuclear incident.

  Pursuant to provisions in various nuclear insurance policies, the Cooperative could be assessed retroactive premiums in connection 
with future accidents at a nuclear facility owned by a utility participating in the particular insurance plan. In addition, the  
Cooperative could be assessed annually approximately $1.6 million related to coverage for excess property damage if the insurer’s 
losses relating to an accident exceed its reserves. While assessment also may be made for losses in certain prior years, the Cooperative  
is not aware of any losses in such years that it believes are likely to result in an assessment.

  In the unlikely event of a catastrophic loss at DAEC, the amount of insurance available may not be adequate to cover property 
damage, decontamination, and premature decommissioning. Uninsured losses, to the extent not recovered through rates, would 
be borne by the Cooperative and Basin Electric, through the power purchase agreement, and could have a materially adverse 
effect on the Cooperative’s financial position and results of operations.

(15) Benefit Plans

  The RS Plan, sponsored by NRECA, is a defined-benefit pension plan qualified under Section 401 and tax-exempt under Section 
501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. It is considered a multi-employer plan under the accounting standards. The plan sponsor’s 
Employer Identification Number is 53-0116145 and the Plan Number is 333.

(13)  Asset Retirement Obligation

  The Cooperative has asset retirement obligations (ARO) arising from regulatory requirements to perform certain asset retirement 
activities at the time of decommissioning DAEC and disposing of certain electric plant. The liability was initially measured at fair 
value and subsequently is adjusted for accretion expense and changes in the amount or timing of the estimated cash flows. The 
corresponding asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset and depreciated 
over the asset’s remaining useful life.

  The Cooperative recognizes and estimates an ARO for its 10% share of the estimated cost to decommission DAEC. During 2018, 
an NRC estimate of the decommissioning costs was updated. This report estimated the Cooperative’s share of the costs to be 
approximately $83,357,100 (in 2018 U.S. dollars). The following table presents the activity for the AROs for the years ended 
December 31, 2018 and 2017:
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  A unique characteristic of a multi-employer plan compared with a single-employer plan is that all plan assets are available to pay 
benefits of any plan participant. Separate asset accounts are not maintained for participating employers. This means that assets 
contributed by one employer may be used to provide benefits to employees of other participating employers.

  The Cooperative’s contributions to the RS Plan in 2018 and 2017 represented less than 5% of the total contributions made to the 
RS Plan by all participating employers. The Cooperative made contributions to the RS Plan of $1,520,500 and $1,436,699 in 2018 
and 2017, respectively (including prepayment discussed below).

  For the RS Plan, a “zone status” determination is not required, and therefore, not determined, under the Pension Protection Act 
(PPA) of 2006. In addition, the accumulated benefit obligations and plan assets are not determined or allocated separately by 
individual employers. In total, the RS Plan was over 80% funded on January 1, 2018 and 2017 based on the PPA funding target 
and PPA actuarial value of assets on those dates.

  Because the provisions of the PPA do not apply to the RS Plan, funding improvement plans and surcharges are not applicable.  
Future contribution requirements are determined each year as part of the actuarial valuation of the plan and may change as a 
result of plan experience.

  The Cooperative also provides a 401(k) plan, available to all employees, with the Cooperative matching 40% of the employees’ 
contributions up to 5% of the employees’ wages. For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Cooperative contributed 
$150,859 and $140,670, respectively, to the 401(k) plan.

  In 2018, the Cooperative offered key employees a deferred compensation plan available through NRECA. The plan permits 
qualifying employees to defer a portion of their salary until future years. The accumulated deferred compensation balance is not 
available to the employees until termination, retirement or death.

  All amounts of compensation deferred under the plan and all income attributable to those amounts (until paid or made available 
to the employee or other beneficiary) are solely the property and rights of the Cooperative (not restricted to the payment of benefits 
under the plan), subject only to the claim of general creditors. Participants’ rights under the plan are equal to those of general 
creditors of the Cooperative in an amount equal to the fair market value of the deferred account for each participant. The related 
assets and liabilities total $15,946 as of December 31, 2018, are reported as contract value, which approximates fair value.

(16) NIMECA Combined Transmission System

  In 1989, the Cooperative and one of its members, NIMECA, entered into a joint transmission agreement that allows several members 
of NIMECA an individual undivided ownership interest in and access to the Cooperative’s transmission system. The Cooperative 
will continue to operate and maintain the system. NIMECA members will reimburse the Cooperative for the proportionate share 
of operating expenses of the system and will contribute proportionately for all future capital additions of the system. 

(17) Environmental Matters

  The EPA CSAPR was in effect January 1, 2015.  This rule regulates interstate emissions of NOx and SO2 contributing to  
nonattainment areas of fine particulate and ozone. In 2015, EPA proposed a more stringent NOx seasonal Phase II. The NOx  
seasonal Phase II of the rule was finalized in 2016 and became effective in May 2017. The effects on the Cooperative are  
insignificant due to the number of hours its coal plants operate during the year.

  The EPA finalized a new rule for existing plants under Section 111(d) of the Act in 2015, which requires reduction in carbon dioxide 
(CO2) emissions from existing coal-fired and combined-cycle natural gas electric generating units. In February 2016, the U.S. 
Supreme Court issued a stay of these final standards until pending legal challenges are resolved, which places implementation of 
these final standards on hold. In 2017, the EPA proposed repeal of this rule. EPA proposes a change in the legal interpretation as 
applied to section 111(d) of the Act to an interpretation that is consistent with the Act’s text, context, structure, purpose, and 
legislative history, as well as the EPA’s historical understanding and exercise of its authority.

  In 2018, the EPA proposed its replacement rule under 111(d) of the Act. The final rule is expected first quarter 2019 and it will 
most likely be litigated after being published in the Federal Registrar.

  The Cooperative believes that the combination of the costs for the required capital investments, increased operational expenses, 
and purchase of emission allowances resulting from these new and revised regulations will be significant.

(18) Subsequent Events

  The Cooperative has evaluated subsequent events from the balance sheet date through March 4, 2019, the date at which the 
financial statements were available to be issued and noted no additional items to disclose.
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